COMMUNITY WORKFORCE AGREEMENT BY AND BETWEEN THE PALMDALE SCHOOL DISTRICT

AND

LOS ANGELES AND ORANGE COUNTIES
BUILDING AND CONSTRUCTION TRADES COUNCIL

AND

THE SIGNATORY CRAFT COUNCILS AND UNIONS

FOR

CONSTRUCTION PROJECTS AND MAJOR REHABILITATION

Table of Contents

ARTICLE 1. DEFINITIONS
ARTICLE 2. SCOPE OF AGREEMENT
ARTICLE 3. EFFECT OF AGREEMENT
ARTICLE 4. WORK STOPPAGES, STRIKES, SYMPATHY STRIKES AND LOCKOUTS
ARTICLE 5. PRECONSTRUCTION CONFERENCE
ARTICLE 6. NO DISCRIMINATION
ARTICLE 7. UNION SECURITY AND STEWARDS12
ARTICLE 8. REFERRAL
ARTICLE 9. WAGES AND BENEFITS
ARTICLE 10. COMPLIANCE
ARTICLE 11. JOINT ADMINISTRATIVE COMMITTEE
ARTICLE 12. GRIEVANCE AND ARBITRATION PROCEDURE 18
ARTICLE 13. JURISDICTIONAL DISPUTES
ARTICLE 14. MANAGEMENT RIGHTS
ARTICLE 15. SAVINGS CLAUSE
ARTICLE 16. APPRENTICES
ARTICLE 17. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS
ARTICLE 18. WORK OPPORTUNITIES PROGRAM
ATTACHMENT A LETTER OF ASSENT
ATTACHMENT B LIST OF MASTER LABOR AGREEMENTS 28
ATTACHMENT C PALMDALE AND ANTELOPE VALLEY AREA ZIP CODES 31
ATTACHMENT D PALMDALE SCHOOL DISTRICT CRAFT REQUEST FORM 32
ATTACHMENT E LOS ANGELES AND ORANGE COUNTIES BUILDING AND CONSTRUCTION TRADES COUNCIL APPROVED DRUG AND ALCOHOL
TESTING POLICY
APPENDIX A

PALMDALE SCHOOL DISTRICT PROJECT LABOR AGREEMENT FOR NEW CONSTRUCTION AND MODERNIZATION

This Project Labor Agreement (hereinafter, "Agreement") is entered into by and among the Board of Trustees of the Palmdale School District (the "District"), the Los Angeles/Orange Counties Building and Construction Trades Council (the "Council"), and the signatory Craft Councils and Unions signing this Agreement (hereinafter together with the Council, collectively, the "Union" or "Unions").

The purpose of this Project Labor Agreement is to promote efficiency of construction operations during the Palmdale School District's Project Work as defined herein, and to provide employment opportunities for local workers to participate in the the Project Work, and for peaceful settlement of labor disputes and grievances without strikes or lockouts, thereby promoting the public interest in assuring the timely and economical completion of the Project Work.

WHEREAS, the timely and successful completion of the Project Work is of the utmost importance to the Palmdale School District ("District") to meet the educational needs of the District's students and to avoid increased costs resulting from delays in construction; and

WHEREAS, the Agreement provides a level of accountability that will greatly reduce if not eliminate the exploitation of workers and circumvention of the Labor Code as it applies to the payment of prevailing wages and will save the District financial and human resources in prevailing wage enforcement; and

WHEREAS, large numbers of workers of various skills will be required in the performance of the construction work, including those to be represented by the Council, AFL-CIO and the signatory Craft Councils and Unions signing this Agreement. All of the above-listed entities, which have executed this Agreement, shall be referred to collectively as the "Parties" and individually as a "Party;" and

WHEREAS, the interests of the general public, the District, the Unions and Contractor/Employer(s) would be best served if the construction work proceeded in an orderly manner without disruption because of strikes, sympathy strikes, work stoppages, picketing, lockouts, slowdowns or other interferences with work; and

WHEREAS, the Contractor/Employers and the Unions desire to mutually establish and stabilize wages, hours and working conditions for the workers employed on the Project by the Contractor/Employer(s), and, further, to encourage close cooperation among the Contractor/Employer(s) and the Union(s) to the end that a satisfactory, continuous and harmonious relationship will exist among the parties to this Agreement; and

WHEREAS, the Agreement is not intended to replace, interfere, abrogate, diminish or modify existing local or national collective bargaining agreements in effect during the duration of the Project, insofar as a legally binding agreement exists between the Contractor/Employer(s) and the affected Union(s) except to the extent that the provisions of this Agreement are inconsistent with said collective bargaining agreements, in which event, the provisions of this Agreement shall prevail; and

WHEREAS, the contracts for the Project Work will be awarded in accordance with the applicable provisions of the Public Contract Code, Education Code and other applicable California law; and

WHEREAS, the District places high priority upon the development of comprehensive programs for the recruitment, training and employment of local area residents and has identified the need to prepare its students for lifelong careers and continuing education, recognizing the ability of local apprenticeship programs to provide meaningful and sustainable careers in the building and construction industry; and

WHEREAS, the parties to this Agreement pledge their full good faith and trust to work towards a mutually satisfactory completion of the Project Work; and

WHEREAS, by requiring, as a condition of performing the Project Work, Contractor/Employers to provide training and employment opportunities to local residents registered in apprenticeship programs, the residents of the District, the District and the residents of the District desiring training all benefit.

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS AGREED BETWEEN AND AMONG THE PARTIES HERETO, AS FOLLOWS:

ARTICLE 1. DEFINITIONS

- 1.1. "Agreement" means this Community Workforce Agreement.
- 1.2. "Apprentice" shall mean those employees registered and participating in Bona Fide Joint Labor/Management Apprenticeship Programs approved by the Division of Apprenticeship Standards, Department of Industrial Relations of the State of California.
- 1.3. "Contractor/Employer(s)", "Contractor(s)", and "Employer(s)" means any individual, firm, partnership, or corporation, or combination thereof, including joint ventures, which as an Independent Contractor has entered into a Construction Services Agreement with the District with respect to the Project Work, or with another Contractor as a subcontractor of whatever tier utilized by such Contractors for Project Work.
- 1.4. "Construction Services Agreement" means a public works contract not excluded in this Agreement which will be awarded and signed by the District and which is necessary to complete Project Work.

- 1.5. "DSA" means Division of State Architect.
- 1.6. "Bona Fide Apprenticeship Program" means a Joint Labor/Management Apprenticeship Program approved by the State Division of Apprenticeship Standards that has graduated apprentices annually for at least the past five (5) years.
- 1.7. "Letter of Assent" as used in this Agreement means the document that each Contractor (of any tier) must sign and submit to the Community Workforce Coordinator and the Council, before beginning any Project Work, which formally binds them to adhere to all the forms, requirements and conditions of this Agreement, in the letter attached hereto as Attachment A.
- 1.8. "Community Workforce Coordinator" means the person(s) or business entity(ies) designated by the District to manage, coordinate and administer the implementation of this Agreement.
- 1.9. "Project" is defined to include all construction and major rehabilitation work pursuant to construction contracts described in Section 2.7.1 of this Agreement and all subcontracts flowing from these prime multi-trade contracts.
- 1.10. "Project Manager" means the person(s) or business entity(ies) designated by the District to manage, coordinate and administer all phases of construction on the Project.
- 1.11. Master Labor Agreements" or "MLA" as used in this Agreement means the local collective bargaining agreements of the signatory Unions having jurisdiction over the Project Work and which have signed this Agreement.

ARTICLE 2. SCOPE OF AGREEMENT

- 2.1. <u>Background:</u> The District's new construction and major rehabilitation projects will affect the school buildings and offices that are owned, leased or controlled by the District. The goal of the Projects is to provide new construction and major rehabilitation of the District's facilities so as to provide sufficient facilities and technologies to educate properly the children within the District's boundaries. The District, therefore, wishing to utilize the most modern, efficient and effective procedures for construction, including assurances of a sufficient supply of skilled craftsperson's, and the elimination of disruptions or interference with Project Work, adopts this Agreement in the best interests of the students, parents, District staff, and the taxpayers of the District to meet the District's goal that Project Work be completed on time and within budget.
- 2.2. <u>Identification and Retention of Skilled Labor and Employment of Local Residents:</u> The vast amount of new school construction, substantial rehabilitation, and capital improvement work scheduled to be performed by the District will require large numbers of craft personnel and other supporting workers. The parties understand and

intend to use the opportunities provided by the extensive amount of work to be covered by this Agreement to identify and promote, through cooperative efforts, programs and procedures (which may include, for example, programs to prepare persons for entrance into formal apprenticeship programs, or outreach programs to the community describing opportunities available as a result of the Project), the interest and involvement of Local Residents in the construction industry; assist them in entering the construction trades, and through utilization of the joint labor/management sponsored apprenticeship programs, provide training opportunities for those Local Residents and other individuals wishing to pursue a career in construction. Further, with assistance of the Community Workforce Coordinator, the District, the contractors, the Unions and their affiliated regional and national organizations, will work jointly to develop and implement procedures promptly for the identification of craft needs, the scheduling of work to facilitate the utilization of available craft workers, and to secure the services of craft workers in sufficient numbers to meet the high demands of the Project Work to be undertaken.

- Encouragement of Local and Small Business: The Projects will provide many opportunities for local and small business enterprises to participate as contractors or suppliers, and the parties therefore agree that they will cooperate with all efforts of the District, the Community Workforce Coordinator, and other organizations retained by the District for the purpose of encouraging and assisting the participation of local and small businesses in Project Work. Specifically, all parties understand that the District has established and quantified goals which place a strong emphasis on the utilization of local and small businesses on the Projects. Each party agrees that it shall employ demonstrable efforts to encourage utilization in an effort to achieve such goals. This may include, for example, participation in outreach programs, education and assistance to businesses not familiar with working on a project of this scope, and the encouragement of local residents to participate in Project Work through programs and procedures jointly developed to prepare and encourage such local residents for apprenticeship programs and formal employment on the Projects through the referral programs sponsored and/or supported by the parties to this Agreement. Further, the parties shall ensure that the provisions of this Agreement do not inadvertently establish impediments to the participation of local and small businesses, and residents of the District.
- 2.4. Parties: The Agreement shall apply and is limited to all Contractors/Employer(s) performing Project Work, the District, the Council and the Unions.
- 2.5. The District will apply the Agreement as a contract specification to the award of Project Work issued after the date of this Agreement.
- 2.6. The District shall designate a "Community Workforce Coordinator," either from its own staff or an independent contractor acting on behalf of the District, to monitor compliance with this Agreement; assist, as the authorized representative of the District, in developing and implementing the programs referenced herein, all of which are critical to fulfilling the intent and purposes of the Parties and this Agreement; and, to otherwise implement and administer this Agreement.

2.7. Covered Work:

2.7.1. This Agreement shall apply to all on-site construction, demolition, alteration, painting or repair of buildings, structures, landscaping, temporary fencing and other works and related activities for Projects that are within the craft jurisdiction of one of the Unions and that are part of the Projects, including, without limitation, pipelines, site preparation, demolition of existing structures and all construction, demolition or improvements required to be performed as a condition of approval by any public agency, described in Appendix A.

The on-site installation or application of all items shall be performed by the craft having jurisdiction over such work as set forth under the provisions of this Agreement; provided, however, it is recognized that installation of certain equipment and systems of a highly technical and specialized nature which may be furnished by the District or a Contractor which work shall be performed by construction persons employed under this Agreement who may be directed by other personnel in a supervisory role; provided, however, in limited circumstances if a manufacturer's warranty on such equipment or systems requires that the installation be performed by the manufacturer's or vendor's own personnel, then such installation, shall not be covered under this Agreement. The Prime Contractor shall notify the Unions at the pre-job conference of the use of this provision and shall provide copies of the written warranty that require that the work be performed by the manufacturer's or vendor's own personnel, to the affected Union. However, if the Prime Contractor fails in good faith to so notify the Unions at the pre-job conference, the Prime Contractor shall notify the Unions at least 60 days before such work is to be performed of the use of this provision and shall provide copies of the written warranty that require that the work be performed by the manufacturer's or vendor's own personnel. to the affected Union. When the warranty does not require installation by the manufacturer's or vendor's own personnel, the Unions agree to perform and install such work under the supervision and direction of the manufacturer's or the specialty vendor's representative. The issue of whether it is necessary to use construction persons of the vendor or other companies to protect the manufacturer's warranty shall be subject to the grievance and arbitration procedures set forth in Article 13 of this Agreement.

- 2.7.2. Work covered by this Agreement shall be performed pursuant to the terms and conditions of this Agreement regardless of the project delivery method.
- 2.7.3. If any disagreement between Contractor/Employer(s) and a Union or Unions concerning the methods of implementation or installation of any equipment, or device or item, or method of work, arises, or whether a particular part or pre-assembled item is a standardized or catalog part or item, the work will precede as directed by the Contractor and the parties shall immediately consult over the matter. If the disagreement is not resolved, the affected Union(s) shall have the right to the procedures set forth in Article 13;

- 2.7.4. The Parties understand that the District may at any time, and at its sole discretion, determine to build segments of the Project under this Agreement which were not currently proposed, or to modify or not to build any one or more particular segments covered by this Agreement. Further, it is understood by the Parties that the District may at any time, and at its sole discretion, add additional projects under this Agreement not otherwise covered by this Agreement.
- 2.8. Work excluded from this Agreement includes, but is not limited to, the following:
- 2.8.1 Work of non-manual employees, including but not limited to, superintendents, supervisors, architects and other design professionals, staff engineers, municipal inspectors, DSA inspectors of record, information technology installers and technicians, safety personnel, timekeepers, mail carriers, clerks, emergency medical and first aid technicians, and other professional, engineering, administrative, supervisory and management employees not covered under a Master Labor Agreement;
- 2.8.2 Maintenance of equipment and machinery owned or controlled and operated by the District or its direct employees;
- 2.8.3 All off-site manufacture and handling of materials, equipment or machinery (except at dedicated staging, lay-down, or storage areas) which is not covered by the fabrication provision in the Master Labor Agreement of one of the Unions;
- 2.8.4 All employees of the District, Community Workforce Coordinator, design teams (including, but not limited to architects, engineers and master planners), or any other consultants for the District (including, but not limited to, project managers and construction managers and their employees not engaged in Project Work) and their subconsultants, and other employees of professional service organizations, not performing manual labor within the scope of this Agreement; provided, however, that it is understood and agreed that Building/Construction Inspector and Field Soils and Materials Testers (Inspectors) are a covered craft under the Agreement. (This inclusion applies to the scope of work defined in the Master Labor Agreement for said craft. Every Inspector performing under the Wage classification of Building/Construction Inspector and Field Soils and Material Testers under a professional services agreement or a construction contract shall be bound to all applicable requirements of the Agreement.) Covered Work as defined by this Agreement shall be performed pursuant to the terms and conditions of this Agreement regardless of the manner in which the work was awarded;
- 2.8.5 Any work performed on or near or leading to or into a site of work covered by this Agreement and undertaken by state, county, city or other governmental bodies, or their Contractors; or by public utilities, or their Contractors; and/or by the District or its Contractors (for work which is not within the scope of this Agreement);
- 2.8.6 The off-site maintenance of leased equipment and the on-site supervision of such work;

- 2.8.7 Work by employees of a manufacturer or vendor necessary to maintain its warranty or guarantee;
 - 2.8.8 Laboratory work for specialty testing; and
- 2.8.9 Non-construction support services contracted by the District, Community Workforce Coordinator or Contractor/Employer in connection with a Project.
- 2.9. Coverage Exception: This Agreement shall not apply if the District receives funding or assistance from any Federal, State, local or other public entity for the Construction Services Agreement if a requirement, condition or other term of receiving that funding or assistance, at the time of the awarding of the contract, is that the District not require, bidders, contractors, subcontractors or other persons or entities to enter into an agreement with one or more labor organizations or enter into an agreement that contains any of the terms set forth herein. The District agrees that it will make every effort to establish the enforcement of this Agreement with any governmental agency or granting authority.

ARTICLE 3. EFFECT OF AGREEMENT

- 3.1. By executing this Agreement, the Unions and the District agree to be bound by each and all of the provisions of the Agreement.
- It is agreed that all Employers of whatever tier, who have been awarded 3.2. contracts for work covered by this Agreement, shall be required to accept and be bound to the terms and conditions of this Community Workforce Agreement, and shall evidence their acceptance by the execution of the Letter of Assent as set forth in Attachment "A" hereto, prior to the commencement of Project work. At the time that any Contractor enters into a subcontract with any subcontractor of any tier providing for the performance of Project work, the Contractor shall provide a copy of this Agreement to said subcontractor and shall require the subcontractor, as a part of accepting the award of a construction subcontract, to agree in writing in the form of a Letter of Assent to be bound by each and every provision of this Agreement prior to the commencement of work on the Project. No Contractor or subcontractor shall commence Project Work without having first provided a copy of the Letter of Assent as executed by it to the Community Workforce Coordinator and to the Council forty-eight (48) hours before the commencement of Project Work, or within forty-eight (48) hours after the award of Project Work to that Contractor (or subcontractor), whichever occurs later.
- 3.3. This Agreement shall only be binding on the signatory parties hereto and shall not apply to the parents, affiliates, subsidiaries, or other ventures of any such party.
- 3.4. The provisions of this Agreement, including the Master Labor Agreements of the signatory Unions having jurisdiction over the work on a Project, as such may be

changed from time-to-time and which are incorporated herein by reference, shall apply to the work covered by this Agreement, notwithstanding the provisions of any other local, area and/or national agreement which may conflict with or differ from the terms of this Agreement. However, such does not apply to work performed under the National Cooling Tower Agreement, the National Stack Agreement, the National Transit Division Agreement (NTD), or within the jurisdiction of the International Union of Elevator Constructors and all instrument calibration and loop checking work performed under the terms of the UA/IBEW Joint National Agreement for Instrument and Control Systems Technicians except that Articles dealing with Work Stoppages and Lock-Outs, Work Assignments and Jurisdictional Disputes, and Settlement of Grievances and Disputes shall apply to such work. It is specifically agreed that no later agreement shall be deemed to have precedence over this Agreement unless signed by all Parties signatory hereto who are then currently employed or represented at a Project. Where a subject covered by the provisions of this Agreement is also covered by a Master Labor Agreement, the provisions of this Agreement shall apply. Where a subject is covered by a provision of a Master Labor Agreement and not covered by this Agreement, the provisions of the Master Labor Agreement shall prevail. Any dispute as to the applicable source between this Agreement and any Master Labor Agreement for determining the wages, hours of working conditions of employees on Project Work shall be resolved under the procedures established in Article 13.

3.5. It is understood that this Agreement, together with the Master Labor Agreements, constitutes a self-contained, stand-alone agreement and by virtue of having become bound to this Project Labor Agreement, the Contractor/Employer will not be obligated to sign any other local, area or national collective bargaining agreement as a condition of performing work within the scope of this Agreement (provided, however, that the Contractor/Employer may be required to sign an uniformly applied, non-discriminatory Participation Agreement at the request of the trustees or administrator of a trust fund established pursuant to Section 302 of the Labor Management Relations Act, and to which such Contractor is bound to make contributions under this Agreement, provided that such Participation Agreement does not purport to bind the Contractor/Employer beyond the terms and conditions of this Agreement and/or expand its obligation to make contributions pursuant thereto). It shall be the responsibility of the prime Contractor/Employer to have each of its subcontractors sign the Participation Agreement with the appropriate Craft Union prior to the subcontractor beginning Project Work.

ARTICLE 4. WORK STOPPAGES, STRIKES, SYMPATHY STRIKES AND LOCKOUTS

4.1. During the life of this Agreement, the Unions, their members, their agents, their representatives, and their employees agree that they shall not incite, encourage, condone or participate in any strike, walkout, slowdown, sit-down, stay-in, boycott, sympathy strike, picketing, or other work stoppage or other protest of any kind for any cause whatsoever with respect to a Project; and there shall be no lockout by Contractor or any Employer. It is expressly agreed that any such action is in violation of this Agreement.

- 4.2. In the event of a violation of this Section 4.1, any Contractor/Employer shall be entitled to discharge and replace any employee violating Section 4.1 above and any such employee will not be eligible for rehire under this Agreement. In addition, the Contractor or Employer may seek relief in court (and shall not be limited to the remedy provided in Article 13), specifically including injunctive relief, to restrain any such action on the part of the Union(s), and any of its agents, representatives, or employees.
- 4.3. Notwithstanding the provisions in Section 4.1 above, is it agreed that a Union retains the right to withhold the services (but not the right to picket) of its members from a particular Contractor/Employer who fails to make timely payments to the Union's benefit plans, or fails to timely pay its weekly payroll, in accordance with its agreements with the Union; provided, however, that the Union shall give ten (10) business days written notice to such Contractor/Employer failings to make timely payments to the Union's benefit plans prior to withholding the services of its members, and that in the event the Union or any of its members withholds their services from such Contractor/Employer, the District shall have the right to replace such Contractor/Employer with any other Contractor/Employer that executes an Letter of Assent. Any notice provided to the Contractor/Employer per this article shall also be provided to those identified in Article 21.14.
- 4.4. <u>Expedited Enforcement Procedure:</u> Any party, including the District, which is an intended beneficiary of this Article, or the Community Workforce Coordinator, may, in its sole discretion, institute the following procedures, in lieu of or in addition to any other action at law or equity, when a breach of Section 4.1 or Section 14.4 is alleged.
- 4.4.1 The party invoking this procedure shall notify Lou Zigman, who has been selected by the negotiating Parties, and whom the Parties agree shall be the permanent arbitrator under this procedure. If the permanent arbitrator is unavailable at any time, the party invoking this procedure shall notify one of the alternates selected by the Parties, in that order on an alternating basis. Notice to the arbitrator shall be by the most expeditious means available, with notices to the Parties alleged to be in violation, and to the Council if it is a Union alleged to be in violation. For purposes of this Article, written notice may be given by telegram, facsimile, hand-delivery or overnight mail and will be deemed effective upon receipt.
- 4.4.2 Upon receipt of said notice, the arbitrator named above or his/her alternate shall sit and hold a hearing within twenty-four (24) hours if it is contended that the violation still exists, but not sooner than twenty-four (24) hours after notice has been dispatched to the Council of the involved Union(s) and/or Contractor as required by Section 4.4.1, above.
- 4.4.3 The arbitrator shall notify the Parties of the place and time chosen for this hearing. Said hearing shall be completed in one session, which, with appropriate recesses at the arbitrator's discretion, shall not exceed twenty-four (24) hours unless otherwise agreed upon by all Parties. A failure of any Party or Parties to attend said

hearings shall not delay the hearing of evidence or the issuance of any award by the arbitrator.

- 4.4.4 The sole issue at the hearing shall be whether or not a violation of Sections 4.1 or Section 14.4 has in fact occurred. The arbitrator shall have no authority to consider any matter in justification, explanation or mitigation of such violation or to award damages. The Award shall be issued in writing within three (3) hours after the close of the hearing, and may be issued without an opinion. If any party desires a written opinion, one shall be issued within fifteen (15) days, but its issuance shall not delay compliance with, or enforcement of, the Award. The arbitrator may order cessation of the violation of the Article and other appropriate relief, and such Award, upon issuance, shall be served on all Parties by hand or registered mail.
- 4.4.5 Such Award shall be final and binding on the party that instituted this expedited enforcement procedure and the responding Union(s) and may be enforced by any court of competent jurisdiction upon the filing of this Agreement and all other relevant documents referred to herein above in the following manner. Written notice of the filing of such enforcement proceedings shall be given to the other party. In any judicial proceeding to obtain a temporary order enforcing the arbitrator's Award as issued under Section 4.4.4 of this Article, all Parties waive the right to a hearing and agree that such proceedings may be ex parte. Such agreement does not waive any Party's right to participate in a hearing for a final order of enforcement. The court's order or orders enforcing the arbitrator's award shall be served on all Parties by hand or by delivery to their address as shown on this Agreement (for a Union), as shown in their business contract for work under this Agreement (for a Contractor) and to the representing Union (for an employee), by certified mail by the Party or Parties first alleging the violation.
- 4.4.6 Any rights created by statute or law governing arbitration proceedings inconsistent with the above procedure or which interfere with compliance hereto are hereby waived by the Parties to whom they accrue.
- 4.4.7 The fees and expenses of the arbitrator shall be equally divided between the party or Parties initiating this procedure and the respondent Party or Parties.
- 4.5. The Parties agree that Project delays caused by violations of this Article may cause the District to sustain damages. They agreed that it would be impractical or extremely difficult to fix the amount of such damages.

Therefore, the Parties agree that, should the District file a grievance against one of the Signatory Unions for violation of Section 4.1 of this Agreement, or a Union files a grievance against a Contractor for violation of Section 4.1 of this Agreement and such grievance goes to arbitration under Article 13 of this Agreement, if the arbitrator determines that a work stoppage has occurred, the respondent Unions(s) shall, within eight (8) hours of receipt of the award, direct all the employees they represent on the project to immediately return to work. If the craft(s) involved does not return to work by the beginning of the next regularly scheduled shift following such eight (8) hour period after

receipt of the arbitrator's award, and the respondent Union(s) have not complied with their obligation to immediately instruct, order, and use their best efforts to cause a cessation of the violation and return of the employees they represent to work, then the respondent Union(s) shall each pay a sum as liquidated damages to the District, and each shall pay an additional sum per shift for each shift thereafter on which the craft(s) has not returned to work. Similarly, if the arbitrator determines that a lock-out has occurred, the respondent Contractor(s) shall, within eight (8) hours of receipt of the award, return all the affected employees to work on the Project, or otherwise correct the violation as found by the arbitrator. If the respondent Contractor(s) do not take such action by the beginning of the next regularly scheduled shift following the eight (8) hour period, each respondent Contractor shall pay a sum as liquidated damages to the affected Union(s) (to be apportioned among the affected employees and the benefit funds to which contributions are made on their behalf, as appropriate and designated by the Arbitrator) and each shall pay an additional sum per shift for each shift thereafter in which compliance by the respondent Contractor(s) has not been completed. The Arbitrator shall retain jurisdiction to determine compliance with this Section and to establish the appropriate sum of liquidated damages, which shall not be less than five thousand dollars (\$5,000) per day, nor more than ten thousand dollars (\$10,000) per day.

ARTICLE 5. PRECONSTRUCTION CONFERENCE

Each Prime Contractor will conduct a pre-job conference with the Unions not later than ten (10) calendar days prior to commencing work for each stage of the Project prior to commencing work thereon. Each Contractor conducting a pre-job shall notify the Council and all subcontractors of all tiers, who shall participate in such conferences, seven (7) days in advance of all such conferences. The purpose of the conference will be to, among other things, determine craft manpower needs, schedule of work for the contract and project work rules/owner rules. The Council, the Project Labor Coordinator, and the District shall be advised in advance of all such conferences and may participate if they wish. All work assignments shall be disclosed by the Prime Contractor and all Contractors at a pre-job conference. Should there be Project Work that was not previously discussed at the pre-job conference, or additional project work be added, the contractors performing such work will conduct a separate pre-job conference for such newly included work. Any Union in disagreement with the proposed assignment shall notify the Contractor of its position in writing, with a copy to Community Workforce Coordinator, within seven (7) calendar days thereafter. Within seven (7) calendar days after the period allowed for Union notices of disagreement with the Contractor's proposed assignments, but prior to the commencement of any work, the Contractor shall make final assignments in writing with copies to the Council and to the Community Workforce Coordinator. All meetings shall be held at the District's offices at 39139 10th Street East, Palmdale, California 93550.

ARTICLE 6. NO DISCRIMINATION

6.1. The Contractor/Employer(s) and Union(s) agree not to engage in any form of discrimination on the ground or because of race, religion, gender, membership in a labor organization, political affiliation, marital status, color, creed, national origin, ancestry, age, sex, sexual orientation, political affiliation, marital status or disability or any other basis made illegal by law against any employee, or applicant for employment, on a Project.

ARTICLE 7. UNION SECURITY AND STEWARDS

- 7.1. The Contractor/Employer(s) recognize the Union(s) as the sole and exclusive bargaining representative of all craft employees working within the scope of this Agreement.
- 7.2. No employee covered by this Agreement shall be required to join any Union as a condition of being first employed on a Project. All employees who are employed by the Contractor/Employer(s) on a Project shall, however, as a condition of employment, on or before the eighth (8th) day of consecutive or cumulative employment on the Construction Services Agreement subject to this Agreement, be responsible for the payment of the applicable monthly window dues and working dues uniformly required for union membership in the local union which is signatory to this Agreement. Any employee who is a member of the referring Union at the time of referral shall maintain that membership in good standing while employed under this Agreement. Further, there is nothing in this Agreement that would prevent non-union employees from joining the local union.
- 7.3. Authorized representatives of the Union shall have access to the work performed on a Project, provided that they do not interfere with the work of employees and further provided that such representatives fully comply with posted visitor, security and safety rules.

7.4. Stewards:

- 7.4.1 Each signatory Union shall have the right to dispatch a working journeyperson as a steward for each shift, and shall notify the Contractor in writing of the identity of the designated steward or stewards prior to the assumption of such person's duties as steward. Such designated steward or stewards shall not exercise any supervisory functions. There will be no non-working stewards. Stewards will receive the regular rate of pay for their respective crafts.
- 7.4.2 In addition to his/her work as an employee, the steward should have the right to receive, but not to solicit, complaints or grievances and to discuss and assist in the adjustment of the same with the employee's appropriate supervisor. Each steward should be concerned only with the employees of the steward's Contractor and, if applicable, subcontractor(s), and not with the employees of any other Contractor. A Contractor will not discriminate against the steward in the proper performance of his/her Union duties.

- 7.4.3 When a Contractor has multiple, non-contiguous work locations at one site, the Contractor may request and the Union shall appoint such additional working stewards as the Contractor requests to provide independent coverage of one or more such locations. In such cases, a steward may not service more than one work location without the approval of the Contractor.
- 7.4.4 The stewards shall not have the right to determine when overtime shall be worked or who shall work overtime.
- 7.5. Steward Layoff/Discharge: The relevant Contractor agrees to notify the appropriate Union twenty-four (24) hours before the layoff of a steward, except in the case of disciplinary discharge for just cause. If the steward is protected against such layoff by the provisions of the applicable Master Labor Agreement, such provisions shall be recognized when the steward possesses the necessary qualifications to perform the remaining work. In any case in which the steward is discharged or disciplined for just cause, the appropriate Union will be notified immediately by the Contractor, and such discharge or discipline shall not become final (subject to any later filed grievance) until twenty-four (24) hours after such notice has been given.

ARTICLE 8. REFERRAL

8.1 <u>Recognition:</u> The Contractor recognizes the Council and the Unions as the exclusive bargaining representative for the employees engaged in Project Work.

8.2 Referral Procedure

8.2.1 For signatory Unions now having a job referral system contained in a MLA, the Contractor agrees to comply with such system and it shall be used exclusively by such Contractor, except as modified by this Agreement. Such job referral system will be operated in a nondiscriminatory manner and in full compliance with federal, state, and local laws and regulations which require equal employment opportunities and non-discrimination. All of the foregoing hiring procedures, including related practices affecting apprenticeship, shall be operated so as to consider the goals of the District to encourage employment of District residents and utilization of small local businesses on the Project, and to facilitate the ability of all Contractors to meet their employment needs.

The Unions will exert their best efforts to recruit and refer sufficient numbers of skilled craft workers to fulfill the labor requirements of the Contractor, including specific employment obligations to which the Contractor may be legally and/or contractually obligated; and to refer apprentices as requested to develop a larger, skilled workforce. The Unions will work with their affiliated regional and national unions, and jointly with the Community Workforce Coordinator and others designated by the District, to identify and refer competent craft persons, as needed for Project Work, and to identify and hire

individuals, particularly residents of the District, for entrance into joint labor/management apprenticeship programs, or to participation in other identified programs and procedures to assist individuals in qualifying and becoming eligible for such apprenticeship programs, all maintained to increase the available supply of skilled craft personnel for Project Work and future construction of maintenance work to be undertaken by the District.

8.2.2 The Union shall not knowingly refer an employee currently employed by a Contractor on Project Work to any other Contractor.

8.3 Employment of District Residents:

- 8.3.1 The Unions and Employers agree that, to the maximum extent allowed by law, and as long as they possess the requisite skills and qualifications, the Unions will exert their best efforts to refer and/or recruit sufficient numbers of skilled craft "Local Residents" as defined herein, to fulfill the requirements of the Employers. In recognition of the fact that the District and the communities surrounding Project Work will be impacted by the construction of the Project, the parties agree to support the hiring of workers from the residents of these surrounding areas. Towards that end, the Unions agree that they will exert their best efforts to encourage and provide referrals and utilization of qualified workers residing, first, in those first-tier zip codes which overlap the District service area, as reflected on the attached list of zip codes on Attachment C, as well as Eligible Veterans, regardless of where they reside. If the Unions cannot provide the Employers in the attainment of a sufficient number of Local Residents from within the first-tier zip codes and Eligible Veterans, the Unions will exert their best efforts to then recruit and identify for referral Local Residents, second, residing within the greater Antelope Valley area, as reflected on the attached list of zip codes on Attachment C. If the Unions still have not provided the Employers in the attainment of a sufficient number of Local Residents, the Unions will then exert their best efforts to recruit and identify for referral Local Residents residing within the remainder of the County of Los Angeles. Residents residing within any of these three (3) areas, as well as Eligible Veterans regardless of where they reside, shall be referred to as Local Residents.
- 8.3.2 A goal of 30% of the total work hours performed on the Project shall be from Local Residents described in section 8.3.1, above. To facilitate the dispatch of Local Residents, all Contractors will be required to utilize the Craft Employee Request Form whenever they are requesting the referral of any employee from a Union referral list for any Project Work, a sample of which is attached as **Attachment "D.**"
- 8.3.3 The Community Workforce Coordinator shall work with the Unions and Contractors in the administration of this Local Resident preference; and the Contractors and Unions shall cooperate by maintaining adequate records to demonstrate to the Community Workforce Coordinator that such preferences have been pursued
- 8.4 <u>Helmets to Hardhats:</u> The Employers and the Unions recognize a desire to facilitate the entry into the building and construction trades of veterans who are interested

in careers in the building and construction industry. The employers and Unions agree to utilize the services of the Center for Military Recruitment, Assessment and Veterans Employment (hereinafter "Center") and the Center's "Helmets to Hardhats" program to serve as a resource for preliminary orientation, assessment of construction aptitude, referral to apprenticeship programs or hiring halls, counseling and mentoring, support network, employment opportunities and other needs as identified by the Parties. For purposes of this Agreement, the term "Eligible Veteran" shall have the same meaning as the term "veteran" as defined under Title 5, Section 2108(1) of the United States Code as the same may be amended or re-codified from time to time. It shall be the responsibility of each qualified District resident to provide the Unions with proof of his/her status as an Eligible Veteran.

The Unions and Employers agree to coordinate with the Center to create and maintain an integrated database of veterans interested in working on this Project and of apprenticeship and employment opportunities for this Project. To the extent permitted by law, the Unions will give credit to such veterans for bona fide, provable past experience.

8.5 <u>Core Employees:</u>

- 8.5.1 Except as otherwise provided in a Master Labor Agreement to which the Contractor is signatory, Contractors may employ, as needed, first, a member of his core workforce, then an employee through a referral from the appropriate Union hiring hall, then a second core employee, then a second employee through the referral system, and so on until a maximum of five (5) core employees are employed, thereafter, all additional employees in the affected trade or craft shall be requisitioned from the craft hiring hall in accordance with Section 8.2.1. In the laying off of employees, the number of core employees shall not exceed one-half plus one of the workforce for an Employer with ten (10) or fewer employees, assuming the remaining employees are qualified to undertake the work available. This provision applies only to Contractors who are not directly signatory to a current Master Labor Agreement for the craft worker in its employ and is not intended to limit the transfer provisions of the Master Labor Agreement of any trade. As part of this process, and in order to facilitate the contract administration procedures, as well as appropriate fringe benefit fund coverage, all Contractors shall require their core employees and any other persons employed other than through the referral process, to register with the appropriate Union hiring hall, if any, prior to their first day of employment at a Project site.
- 8.5.2 The core work force is comprised of those employees whose names appeared on the Contractor's active payroll for sixty (60) of the one hundred (100) working days immediately before award of Project Work to the Contractor; who possess any license required by state or federal law for the Project Work to be performed; and who have the ability to safely perform the basic functions of the applicable trade; who have worked at least two-thousand (2,000) hours in the construction craft in which they are employed, during the prior four (4) years..

- 8.5.3 Prior to each Contractor performing any work on the Project, each Contractor shall provide a list of his core employees to the Community Workforce Coordinator and the Council. Failure to do so will prohibit the Contractor from using any core employees. Upon request by any Party to this Agreement, the Contractor hiring any core employee shall provide satisfactory proof (i.e., payroll records, quarterly tax records, driver's license, voter registration, postal address and such other documentation) evidencing the core employee's qualification as a core employee to the Community Workforce Coordinator and the Council.
- 8.5.4 Hours worked by residents of states other than California shall not be included in the calculation of total hours of Project Work for purposes of the percentage requirements set forth above.
- 8.6 <u>Time for Referral:</u> If any Union's registration and referral system does not fulfill the requirements for specific classifications requested by any Contractor within forty-eight (48) hours (excluding Saturdays, Sundays and holidays), that Contractor may use employment sources other than the Union registration and referral services, and may employ applicants meeting such standards from any other available source. The Contractors shall inform the Union of any applicants hired from other sources within forty-eight (48) hours of such applicant being hired, and such applicants shall register with the appropriate hiring hall, if any, before beginning any Project work.
- 8.7 <u>Lack of Referral Procedure:</u> If a signatory Union does not have a job referral system as set forth in Section 8.2 above, the Contractors shall give the Union equal opportunity to refer applicants. The Contractors shall notify the Union of employees so hired and such applicants shall register with the appropriate hiring hall, if any, before beginning any Project work.
- 8.8 <u>Foremen</u>: The selection and number of craft foreman and/or general foreman shall be the responsibility of the Contractor. All foremen shall take orders exclusively from the designated Contractor representatives. Craft foreman shall be designated as working foreman at the request of the Contractors.
- 8.9 <u>District Security Requirements:</u> The Parties are aware of the District's policy that Contractors and other employers shall not employ a person who would not be eligible for employment by the District under California Education Code, Section 45123. All persons working on Project Work, including all employees hired by a Contractor (or referred by a Signatory Union) to work on Project Work, shall be required to comply with all criminal background check certification requirements and policies of District for those persons who may come in contact with, or work in close proximity to, minors in the course of performing work on a Project. Contractors may refuse to employ any person who declines to comply with District's background check requirements or who is otherwise determined to be disqualified from participating in Project Work because of a disqualifying conviction. Similarly, District may ban or order the immediate removal of any person disqualified from working in the presence of, or in close proximity to, minors.

ARTICLE 9. WAGES AND BENEFITS

- 9.1. All employees covered by this Agreement shall be classified in accordance with work performed and paid by the Contractor/Employer(s) at the hourly wage rates for those classifications in compliance with the applicable prevailing wage rate determination established pursuant to applicable law. Contractor/Employer(s) who are signatory to the Master Labor Agreements with the Signatory Unions shall pay all wages set forth in those Master Labor Agreements. All Contractor/Employer(s) agree to pay contributions to the established fringe benefit funds for each hour worked on a Project in the amounts designated in the Master Labor Agreements of the appropriate local, listed in Attachment B. The Contractor/Employer(s) shall not be required to pay contributions to any other trust funds or in amounts that are higher than the published prevailing wage determination to satisfy their obligation under this Article except that Contractor/Employer(s) who are signatory to Master Labor Agreements with the respective trades shall continue to pay all trust fund contributions as outlined in such collective bargaining agreements.
- 9.2. By signing this Agreement, the Contractor/Employer(s) adopt and agree to be bound by the written terms of the legally established trust agreements, as described in Section 9.1, specifying the detailed basis on which payments are to be made into, and benefits paid out of, such trust funds. The Contractor authorizes the Parties to such trust funds to appoint trustees and successor trustees to administer the trust funds and hereby ratifies and accepts the trustees so appointed as if made by the Contractor.
- 9.3. Each Contractor/Employer(s) and subcontractor is required to certify to the Community Workforce Coordinator that it has paid all benefit contributions due and owing to the appropriate Trust(s) prior to the receipt of its final payment and/or retention. Further, upon timely notification by a Union to the Community Workforce Coordinator, the Community Workforce Coordinator shall work with any Contractor/Employer(s) who is delinquent in payments to assure that proper benefit contributions are made, to the extent of requesting the District or the prime Contractor to withhold payments otherwise due such Contractor, until such contributions have been made or otherwise guaranteed.

ARTICLE 10. COMPLIANCE

It shall be the responsibility of the Contractor/Employer(s) and Unions to investigate and monitor compliance with the provisions of the Master Labor Agreement referred to in Article 9. Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to interfere with or supersede the usual and customary legal remedies available to the Unions and/or employee benefit trust funds to collect delinquent trust fund contributions Contractor/Employers on a Project. The District shall monitor and enforce compliance with the prevailing wage requirements of the State and Contractor/Employer(s)' compliance with this Agreement.

ARTICLE 11. JOINT ADMINISTRATIVE COMMITTEE

- 11.1 The parties to this Agreement may establish a six (6) person Joint Administrative Committee. The Joint Administrative Committee shall be comprised of three (3) representatives selected by the District and three (3) representatives selected by the Council. Each representative shall designate an alternate who shall serve in his or her absence for any purpose contemplated by this Agreement.
- 11.2 The Joint Administrative Committee shall meet as requested by the parties to this Agreement to review the implementation of this Agreement and the progress of a Project.
- Notice of the date, time and place of meetings, shall be given to the Committee members at least three (3) days prior to the meeting by the Community Workforce Coordinator. The Community Workforce Coordinator shall prepare quarterly reports on apprentice utilization and the training and employment of District residents, and a schedule of Project Work and estimated number of craft workers needed.

ARTICLE 12. GRIEVANCE AND ARBITRATION PROCEDURE

- 12.1 Any questions arising out of and during the term of this Agreement involving its meaning, interpretation and application, which includes applicable provisions of the Master Labor Agreements, but not jurisdictional disputes under Article 14, shall be considered a grievance and subject to resolution under the following procedures.
 - Grievances shall be settled according to the following procedures:
- Step 1: Employee Grievances: When any employee subject to the provisions of this Agreement is aggrieved by an alleged violation of this Agreement, the employee shall, through his Union business representative or, job steward, within ten (10) working days after the occurrence of the violation, give notice to the work site representative of the involved Contractor stating the provision(s) alleged to have been violated. A business representative of the Union or the job steward and the work site representative of the involved Contractor shall meet and endeavor to adjust the matter within ten (10) working days after timely notice has been given. If they fail to resolve the matter within the prescribed period, the grieving party may, within ten (10) working days thereafter, pursue Step 2 of this grievance procedure provided the grievance is reduced to writing, setting forth the relevant information, including a short description thereof, the date on which the alleged violation occurred, and the provision(s) of the Agreement alleged to have been violated. Grievances and disputes settled at Step 1 shall be non-precedential except as to the parties directly involved.

<u>Union or Contractor Grievances:</u> Should the Union(s) or any Contractor have a dispute with the other Party(ies) and, if after conferring within ten (10) working days after the disputing Party knew or should have known of the facts or occurrence giving rise to the

dispute, a settlement is not reached within five (5) working days, the dispute shall be reduced to writing and processed to Step 2 in the same manner as outlined in 1(a) above for the adjustment of an employee complaint.

Step 2: The business manager of the involved Union or his designee, together with the site representative of the involved Contractor, and the labor relations representative of the Community Workforce Coordinator, shall meet within seven (7) working days of the referral of the dispute to this second step to arrive at a satisfactory settlement thereof. If the Parties fail to reach an agreement, the dispute may be appealed in writing in accordance with the provisions of Step 3 within seven (7) calendar days after the initial meeting at Step 2.

Step 3: If the grievance shall have been submitted but not resolved under Step 2, either the Union or Contractor Party may request in writing to the Community Workforce Coordinator (with copy (ies) to the other Party (ies)) within seven (7) calendar days after the initial Step 2 meeting, that the grievance be submitted to an arbitrator selected from the agreed upon list below, on a rotational basis in the order listed. Those arbitrators are: (1) Louis Zigman; (2) Sara Adler; (3) Fredric Horowitz; (4) Edna Francis; (5) William Rule; (6) Walt Daugherty; and (7) Michael Rappaport. The decision of the arbitrator shall be final and binding on all Parties.

Failure of the grieving Party to adhere to the time limits established herein shall render the grievance null and void. The time limits established herein may be extended only by written consent of the Parties involved at the particular step where the extension is agreed upon. The arbitrator shall have the authority to make decisions only on issues presented and shall not have the authority to change, amend, add to or detract from any of the provisions of this Agreement. The fees and expenses incurred by the arbitrator, as well as those jointly utilized by the Parties (i.e., conference room, court reporter, etc.) in arbitration, shall be divided equally by the Parties to the arbitration, including Union(s) and Contractor(s) involved.

ARTICLE 13. JURISDICTIONAL DISPUTES

- 13.1 The assignment of work covered by this Agreement will be solely the responsibility of the Contractor/Employer performing the work involved; and such work assignments will be in accordance with the Plan for the Settlement of Jurisdictional Disputes in the Construction Industry (the "Plan") or any successor Plan.
- 13.2 All jurisdictional disputes on a Project between or among the Building and Construction Trades Unions and the Contractor/Employers, and/or parties to this Agreement, shall be settled and adjusted according to the present Plan established by the Building and Construction Trades Department, or any other plan or method of procedure that may be adopted in the future by the Building and Construction Trades Department. Decisions rendered shall be final, binding and conclusive on the Employers and Union parties to this Agreement.

- 13.3 If a dispute arising under this Article involves the Southwest Regional Council of Carpenters or any of its subordinate bodies, an Arbitrator shall be chosen by the procedures specified in Article V, Section 5, of the Plan from a list composed of John Kagel, Thomas Angelo, Robert Hirsch, and Thomas Pagan, and the Arbitrator's hearing on the dispute shall be held at the offices of the Council within fourteen (14) days of the selection of the Arbitrator. All other procedures shall be as specified in the Plan.
- 13.4 All jurisdictional disputes shall be resolved without the occurrence of any strike, work stoppage, or slow-down of any nature, and the Contractor/Employer's assignment shall be adhered to until the dispute is resolved. Individuals violating this Section shall be subject to immediate discharge.

ARTICLE 14. MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

- 14.1 The Contractor/Employer retains the full and exclusive authority for the management of its operations, as set forth in this Article, unless expressly limited or required by a specific provision of this Agreement or an MLA. The Contractor shall direct the workforce at its sole prerogative, including but not limited to the hiring, promotion, transfer, layoff, discipline or discharge for just cause of its employees; the selection of foremen and general foremen; the assignment and schedule of work; the promulgation of reasonable work rules; and, the requirement of overtime work, the determination of when it will be worked and the number and identity of employees engaged in such work. No rules, customs, or practices which limit or restrict productivity, efficiency or the individual and/or joint working efforts of employees shall be permitted or observed.
- 14.2 The District and/or the Contractors, as appropriate, have the absolute right to award contracts or subcontracts on a Project to any Contractor notwithstanding the existence or non-existence of any agreements between such Contractor and any Union parties, provided only that such Contractor is ready, willing and able to execute and comply with this Project Labor Agreement should such Contractor be awarded work covered by this Agreement.

ARTICLE 15. SAVINGS CLAUSE

15.1 It is not the intention of the District, the Community Workforce Coordinator, Contractor/Employer(s) or the Union parties to violate any laws governing the subject matter of this Agreement. The Parties hereto agree that in the event any provision of this Agreement is finally held or determined to be illegal or void as being in contravention of any applicable law or regulation, the remainder of the Agreement shall remain in full force and effect unless the part or parts so found to be void are wholly inseparable from the remaining portions of this Agreement. Further, the Parties agree that

if and when any provision(s) of this Agreement is finally held or determined to be illegal or void by a court of competent jurisdiction, the Parties will promptly enter into negotiations concerning the substantive effect of such decision for the purposes of achieving conformity with the requirements of any applicable laws and the intent of the Parties hereto. If the legality of this Agreement is challenged and any form of injunctive relief is granted by any court, suspending temporarily or permanently the implementation of this Agreement, then the Parties agree that all Project Work that would otherwise be covered by this Agreement should be continued to be bid and constructed without application of this Agreement so that there is no delay or interference with the ongoing planning, bidding and construction of any Project Work.

15.2 The Parties recognize the right of the District to withdraw, at its absolute discretion, the utilization of the Agreement as part of any bid specification should a Court of competent jurisdiction issue any order, or any applicable statute which could result, temporarily or permanently in delay of the bidding, awarding and/or construction on a Project. Notwithstanding such an action by the District, or such court order or statutory provision, the Parties agree that the Agreement shall remain in full force on covered Project Work to the maximum extent legally possible.

ARTICLE 16. APPRENTICES

- 16.1 The Parties recognize the need to maintain continuing support of the programs designed to develop adequate numbers of competent workers in the construction industry, the obligation to capitalize on the availability of the local work force in the area served by the District, and the opportunities to provide continuing work under the construction program. To these ends, the Parties will facilitate, encourage, and assist local residents to commence and progress in Bona Fide Joint Labor/Management Apprenticeship and/or training Programs in the construction industry leading to participation in such apprenticeship programs. The District, the Community Workforce Coordinator, other District consultants, and the Council, will work cooperatively to identify effective programs and procedures for persons interested in entering the construction industry and which will help prepare them for the formal apprenticeship programs maintained by the signatory Unions.
- 16.2 Apprentices used on Projects under this Agreement shall be registered in a Bona Fide Joint Labor/Management Apprenticeship Program approved by the State of California. Apprentices may comprise up to thirty percent (30%) of each craft's work force at any time, unless the standards of the applicable joint apprenticeship committee confirmed by the Division of Apprenticeship Standards ("DAS"), establish a lower maximum percentage.
- 16.3 The apprentice ratios will be in compliance with the applicable provisions of the California Labor Code and Prevailing Wage Rate Determinations.

- 16.4 There shall be no restrictions on the utilization of apprentices in performing the work of their craft provided they are properly supervised.
- 16.5 All apprentices shall work under the direct supervision of a journeyman from the trade in which the apprentice is indentured. A journeyman shall be defined as set forth in the California Code of Regulations, Title 8 [apprenticeship], Section 205, which defines a journeyman as a person who has either completed an accredited apprenticeship in his or h er craft, or has completed the equivalent of an apprenticeship in length and content of work experience and all other requirements in the craft which has workers classified as journeyman in the apprenticeship occupation. Should a question arise as to a journeyman's qualification under this subsection, the Contractor shall provide adequate proof evidencing the worker's qualification as a journeyman to the Construction Manager and the Council.
- 16.6 Any Party alleging a violation of this Section may file a grievance under Article 13, Grievance Procedure, commencing with Step 1 of the procedure, notwithstanding any limitations included therein.

ARTICLE 17. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

- 17.1 Integration. This Agreement is intended by the parties to this Agreement as the final expression of their agreement with respect to such terms as are included herein and as the complete and exclusive statement of its terms and may not be contradicted by evidence of any prior agreement or of a contemporaneous oral agreement, nor explained or supplemented by evidence of consistent additional terms.
- 17.2 No Representations or Warranties. Each of the parties to this Agreement acknowledge that no one has made any promise, representation or warranty whatsoever, express or implied, written or oral, not contained herein to induce them to execute this Agreement, and that this Agreement is not executed in reliance upon any such promise, representation or warranty.
- 17.3 Expiration of Master Labor Agreements. If the Master Labor Agreements expire during the term of a Project, the Union(s) agree that there shall be no work disruption of any kind as described in Section 4.1 of this agreement. Terms and conditions of employment established and set at the time of bid shall remain established and set. Each of the Unions with a contract expiring must offer to continue working on a Project under all the terms of the expiring contract. Contractor/Employer(s) who are signatory to Master Labor Agreements, with their respective trades, shall pay all wages and benefits set forth in the new Master Labor Agreement.
- 17.4 Separate Liability. It is understood that the liability of the Contractor(s) and the liability of the separate Unions under this Agreement shall be several and not joint. The Unions agree that this Agreement does not have the effect of creating any joint employment status between or among the District or Community Workforce Coordinator and/or any Contractor.

- 17.5 The Parties to this Agreement adopt the Council Approved Drug and Alcohol Testing Policy, a copy of which is attached hereto as Attachment E, and which shall be the policy and procedure utilized under this Agreement.
- 17.6 Amendments. The provisions of this Agreement can be renegotiated, supplemented, rescinded or otherwise altered only by mutual agreement in writing, hereafter signed by the negotiating Parties hereto.
- 17.7 Interpretation. Each of the parties to this Agreement acknowledge and agree that this Agreement is to be construed as a whole according to its fair meaning and not in favor of nor against any of the parties to this Agreement as draftsman or otherwise.
- 17.8 Forum. Any action or proceeding seeking any relief under or with respect to this Agreement shall be brought solely in the Superior Court of the State of California for the County of Los Angeles in accordance with the procedures set forth in this Agreement.
- 17.9 Choice of Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and interpreted under the laws of the State of California and the Federal laws of the United States of America.
- 17.10 No Attorney's Fees. No party to this Agreement shall be entitled to recover an award of attorney's fees or costs with respect to any action or proceeding seeking relief under this Agreement.
- 17.11 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall constitute an original of the Agreement. Facsimile signature pages transmitted to other parties to this Agreement shall be deemed equivalent to original signatures on counterparts.
- 17.12 Waiver. A waiver of or a failure to assert any provisions of this Agreement by any or all of the Parties hereto shall not constitute a waiver of such provision for the future. Any such waiver shall not constitute a modification of the Agreement or change in the terms and conditions of the Agreement and shall not relieve, excuse or release any of the Parties from any of their rights, duties or obligations hereunder.
- 17.13 Warranty of Authority. Each of the persons signing this Agreement represents and warrants that such person has been duly authorized to sign this Agreement on behalf of the party indicated, and each of the parties by signing this Agreement warrants and represents that such party is legally authorized and entitled to enter into this Agreement.
 - 17.14 Any notices required under this Agreement shall be given as follows:

To the District:
Palmdale School District

c/o Raul Maldonado 39139 10th Street East Palmdale, CA 93550

And

Garcia, Hernandez, Sawhney & Bermudez, LLP c/o Bonifacio Garcia 801 N. Brand Blvd., Suite 620 Glendale, CA 91203

And

To the Council:

Los Angeles/Orange Counties Building and Construction Trades Council 1626 Beverly Boulevard Los Angeles, California 90026

Any party shall notify the other in writing of any change in the person or address for the purpose of service of notices.

17.15 Ratification by the Board of Trustees. This Agreement shall not by binding on the District until the Board of Trustees, at a publicly noticed Board of Trustees meeting, ratifies it.

ARTICLE 18. WORK OPPORTUNITIES PROGRAM

- 18.1 The Parties to this Agreement support the development of increased numbers of skilled construction workers from among Area Residents to meet the labor needs of the Project, specifically, and the requirements of the local construction industry generally. Towards that end the Parties agree to cooperate respecting the establishment of a work opportunities program for Area Residents, the primary goals of which shall be to maximize construction work opportunities for traditionally underrepresented members of the community. In furtherance of the foregoing, the Unions specifically agree to:
- (a) Encourage the referral and utilization, to the extent permitted by law and hiring hall practices, of qualified Area Residents as journeymen, and apprentices on the Project and entrance into such qualified apprenticeship and training programs as may be operated by signatory Unions; and
- (b) Work cooperatively with the District and other District consultants to identify, or establish and maintain, effective programs, events and procedures for persons interested in entering the construction industry; and

(c) Participate in District based job fairs, career days and outreach events; and Provide speakers to speak at District programs and Academies as requested; and Assist Area Residents in contacting pre-apprenticeship programs that utilize the Building Trades multi-craft core curriculum (MC3) and the Apprenticeship Training Committees for the crafts and trades they are interested in. The Unions shall assist Area Residents who are seeking Union jobs on the Project and Union membership in assessing their work experience and giving them credit for provable past experience in their relevant craft or trade, including experience gained working for non-union Contractors. The Unions shall put on their rolls qualified bona fide Area Residents for work on this Project; and (f) Allow tours of their JACs as requested; and (g) Provide a contact information list for all Union representatives and Joint Apprenticeship Committee representatives; and (h) Support local events and programs designed to recruit and develop adequate numbers of competent workers in the construction industry. IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Agreement to be executed and effective as of ______, 2017. Palmdale School District: Date: 12/26/17

Date: 12-12-17

Los Angeles/Orange Counties Building & Construction Trades Council:

Ron Miller

UNION SIGNATORIES:

Asbestos Heat & Frost Insulators (Local 5) Boilermakers (Local 92) Bricklayers & Allied Craftworkers (Local 4) Cement Masons (Local 600) Electricians (Local 11) Elevator Constructors (Local 18) Gunite Workers (Local 345) Iron Workers (Reinforced – Local 416) Iron Workers (Structural – Local 433) District Council of Laborers Laborers (Local 300) Operating Engineers (Local 12) Operating Engineers (Local 12) Operating Engineers (Local 12) Painters & Allied Trades DC 36 Pipe Trades (Local 250) Pipe Trades (Local 345) Pipe Trades (Plumbers Local 761) Pipe Trades (Road Sprinkler Fitters Local 669) Plasterers (Local 200) Plaster Tenders Local (1414) Roofers & Waterproofers (Local 36) Sheet Metal Workers (Local 105) Sprinkler Fitters Local 709 Teamsters (Local 986) Southwest Regional Council of Carpenters

ATTACHMENT A LETTER OF ASSENT

To be signed by all contractors and subcontractors awarded Project Work

[Contractor's I	Letterhead]
General Contra	actor '
1234 address	
City, state, zip	
Attn:	
Re:	Community Workforce Agreement Palmdale Unified School District Letter of Assent
Dear Sir:	
Unified School such Agreeme interpreted pur shall extend to project and this tier to be simil	arm that [name of company] agrees to be party to and bound by the Palmdale I District Community Workforce Agreement effective, 2017, as ent may, from time to time, be amended by the negotiating parties of suant to its terms. Such obligation to be a party and bound by this Agreement all work covered by the Agreement undertaken by this Company on the Company shall require all of its contractors and subcontractors of whateve larly bound for all work within the scope of the Agreement by signing and you an identical Letter of Assent prior to their commencement of work.
[Name of Cons	struction Company]
By: [Name and Title of Authorized Executive
Contractor's S	tate License No:
Project Name:	

ATTACHMENT B LIST OF MASTER LABOR AGREEMENTS

- 1. Asbestos Workers Local No. 5 Master Labor Agreement Between Southern California Chapter, Western Insulation Contractors Association and Local No. 5, International Association of Heat and Frost Insulators and Allied Workers Effective: July 3, 2017 July 1, 2020
- 2. Boilermakers Local # 92 Western States Articles of Agreement between the International Brotherhood of Boilermakers, Iron Ship Builders, Blacksmiths, Forgers and Helpers AFL-CIO and the Signatory Contractors
 Effective: October 1, 2014 September 30, 2017
- 3. Bricklayers and Allied Crafts Local No. 4 Agreement Between the Independent Masonry Contractors of Santa Barbara, San Luis Obispo, and Ventura Counties And the Bricklayers & Allied Craftworkers Local 4-E/4-F of California Effective: May 1, 2016 April 30, 2021
- 4. Brick Tenders Agreement between The Executive Council of the Mason Contractors Exchange of Southern California, Inc. and Southern California District Council of Laborers Effective: July 1, 2016 June 30, 2021
- 5. Cement Masons Local No. 600 Master Labor Agreement Between Southern California General Contractors and Eleven Southern California Counties Cement Masons Effective: July 1, 2014 June 30, 2017 [successor agreement]
- Elevator Workers Local No. 18 National Elevator Bargaining Association Agreement with International Union of Elevator Constructors Effective: July 9, 2012 – July 8, 2017 [successor agreement]
- Glaziers and Glass Workers Local No. 636 District Council of Painters and Allied Trades No. 36 On Behalf of Glaziers, Architectural Metal and Glass Workers Local Union No. 636 – Master Labor Agreement Effective: June 1, 2014 – June 30, 2016 [successor agreement]
- 8. Gunite/Shotcrete Commercial Agreement by and between the Gunite and Shotcrete Contractors and the Southern California District Council of Laborers and its affiliated Gunite Local # 345
 Effective: July 1, 2015 June 30, 2019
- 9. Inside Wireman's Agreement between Local Union 11 International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers and Los Angeles County Chapter National Electrical Contractors Effective: July 1, 2014 June 30, 2019
 - Southern California 9th District Sound & Communications Agreement, Addendum No. 1 to the 9th District Sound & Communications Agreement By and Between International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers and National Electrical Contractors Association Effective: December 1, 2014 November 30, 2019
- 10. Floor Layers Local No. 1247 Master Labor Agreement As Amended Between Floor Covering Association of Southern California, Inc. and Painters and Allied Trades District

Council No. 36 of the International Union of Painters and Allied Trades AFL-CIO-CLC On Behalf of Resilient Floor and Decorative Covering Local Union No. 1247 Effective: May 1, 2013 – April 30, 2016 [successor agreement]

11. Iron Workers Local No. 416 – Agreement – Iron Worker Employers State of California and A Portion of Nevada And District Council of Iron Workers of the State of California and Vicinity

Effective July 1, 2014 – June 30, 2017 [successor agreement]

12. Iron Workers Local No. 433 – Agreement – Iron Worker Employers State of California and A Portion of Nevada And District Council of Iron Workers of the State of California and Vicinity

Effective July 1, 2014 – June 30, 2017 [successor agreement]

- 13. Southern California Master Labor Agreement between Southern California General Contractors and the Southern California District Council of Laborers Effective: July 1, 2015 June 30, 2018
- 14. Operating Engineers Local No. 12 Master Labor Agreement Between Southern California Contractors Association, Inc. and International Union of Operating Engineers Local Union No. 12

Effective: July 1, 2016 - June 30, 2018

15. Master Labor Agreement – Painters and Allied Trades District Council No. 36 Effective: July 1, 2016 – June 30, 2019

Southern California Drywall Finishers Joint Agreement Effective: October 1, 2016 – September 30, 2020

16. Plasterers Local No. 200 – Labor Agreement Covering the Jurisdiction of OPC&CMIA Local Union in the Counties of Los Angeles, Inyo, Mono, Orange, Riverside, San Bernardino, Imperial, Ventura, Santa Barbara, San Luis Obispo, Kern, and San Diego, and In Addition, Richardson Rock, Santa Cruz Island, Anacapa Island, Including the Channel Islands Monument Between Western Walls & Ceiling Contractors Association, Inc., California Plastering Conference and Operative Plasterers' and Cement Masons' International Association, AFL-CIO Local Union 200 Effective: August 6, 2014 through August 5, 2018

17. Plaster Tenders' Master Agreement between Western Wall and Ceiling Contractors Association, Inc. and Southern California District Council of Laborers and its Affiliated Plaster Tenders of Southern California Local Union 1414
Effective: August 6, 2014 – August 7, 2018

- 18. Master Labor Agreement By and Between Local # 36 & 220 of the United Union of Roofers, Waterproofers and Allied Workers and Individual Roofing Contractors and Others. Representing the Geographical Area of Los Angeles, Ventura, Santa Barbara, San Luis Obispo, Orange, San Bernardino and Riverside Counties in the State of California. Effective: August 1, 2015 July 31, 2020
- 19. International Association of Sheet Metal, Air, Rail and Transportation Workers Local Union 105 and Sheet Metal Air Conditioning Contractors' National Association SMACNA

Los Angeles & Orange Empire SMACNA Effective: July 1, 2015 – June 30, 2020

20. Tile, Marble, and Terrazzo Local No. 18 – Tile Layer, Tile Finisher & Marble Finisher Agreement

Effective: June 1, 2014 – May 31, 2017 [successor agreement]

- 21. National Ready Mixed Concrete Co. and Teamsters Locals 186, 495, 848 and 986 of the International Brotherhood of Teamsters Effective: July 1, 2016 June 30, 2019
- 22. Master Labor Agreement for the Plumbing and Piping Industry of Southern California between California Plumbing and Mechanical Contractors Association and Southern California Pipe Trades District Council No. 16 of the United Association Effective: July 1, 2014 June 30, 2018
- 23. United Association Local No. 669 Agreement Between National Fire Sprinkler Association, Inc. and Road Sprinkler Fitters Local No. 669, Columbia, Maryland, of the United Association of Journeyman and Apprentices of the Plumbing and Pipe Fitting Industry of the United States and Canada Effective: April 1, 2016 March 31, 2021
- 24. Agreement between National Fire Sprinkler Association, Inc. and Sprinkler Fitters Local Union No. 709, Los Angeles, California, of the United Association of Journeyman and Apprentices of the Plumbing and Pipe Fitting Industry of the United States and Canada Effective: September 1, 2014 August 31, 2017
- 25. Southern California Master Labor Agreement Between United General Contractors, Inc. and the Southwest Regional Council of Carpenters and Local Unions in the Twelve Southern California Counties and Nevada Affiliated with the United Brotherhood of Carpenters and Joiners of America

Effective: July 1, 2016 - June 30, 2020

ATTACHMENT C PALMDALE AND ANTELOPE VALLEY AREA ZIP CODES

PALMDALE RESIDENTS (Tier 1)

ANTELOPE VALEY RESIDENTS (Tier 2)

ATTACHMENT D PALMDALE SCHOOL DISTRICT CRAFT REQUEST FORM

TO THE CONTRACTOR: Please complete and fax this form to the applicable union to request craft workers that fulfill the hiring requirements for this project. After faxing your request, please call the Local to verify receipt and substantiate their capacity to furnish workers as specified below. Please print your Fax Transmission Verification Reports and keep copies for your records.

The Palmdale School District Project Labor Agreement establishes a goal that 30% of the total work hours on the Project shall be performed by qualified workers residing, first, in those first-tier zip codes which overlap the District service area, as reflected on the attached list of zip codes on Attachment C, as well as Veterans, regardless of where they reside. If the Unions cannot provide the Employers in the attainment of a sufficient number of Local Residents from within the first-tier zip codes and Veterans, the Unions will exert their best efforts to then recruit and identify for referral Local Residents, second, residing within the greater Antelope Valley area, as reflected on the attached list of zip codes on Attachment C. If the Unions still have not provided the Employers in the attainment of a sufficient number of Local Residents, the Unions will then exert their best efforts to recruit and identify for referral Local Residents third, residing within the remainder of the County of Los Angeles. Residents residing within any of these three (3) areas, as well as Veterans regardless of where they reside, shall be referred to as Local Residents.

TO THE UNION: Please complete the "Union Use Only" section on the next page and fax this form back to the requesting Contractor. Be sure to retain a copy of this form for your records.

CONTRACTOR USE ONLY

To:

Union Local #

Fax# ()

Date:

Cc: Community V	Vorkforce Cod	ordinator			
From: Company:	169.00	Is	sued By: _		
Contact Phone	: ()	C	ontact Fax:	()	
PLEASE PROVIDE	ME WITH T	HE FOLLOWIN	IG UNION	N CRAFT WOR	KERS.
Craft Classification (i.e., plumber, painter, etc.)	Journeyman or Apprentice	Local Resident, or General Dispatch	Number of workers needed	Report Date	Report Time
TOTAL WORKERS R			drass indic	oted below:	
Please have worker(s) Project Name:					
Report to: Comment or Special I	O:	n-site Tel:	On-sit	te Fax:	

UNION USE ONLY

Date dispatch request received:	
Dispatch received by:	
Classification of worker requested:	
Classification of worker dispatched:	

WORKER REFERRED

Name:			
Date worker was dispatched:			
Is the worker referred a:	(check all that apply)		
JOURNEYMAN	Yes	No	
APPRENTICE	Yes	No	
LOCAL RESIDENT	Yes	No	
GENERAL DISPATCH FROM OUT OF WORK LIST	Yes	No	

[This form is not intended to replace a Local Union's Dispatch or Referral Form normally given to the employee when being dispatched to the jobsite.]

ATTACHMENT E LOS ANGELES AND ORANGE COUNTIES BUILDING AND CONSTRUCTION TRADES COUNCIL APPROVED DRUG AND ALCOHOL TESTING POLICY

The Parties recognize the problems which drug and alcohol abuse have created in the construction industry and the need to develop drug and alcohol abuse prevention programs. Accordingly, the Parties agree that in order to enhance the safety of the work place and to maintain a drug and alcohol free work environment, individual Employers may require applicants or employees to undergo drug and alcohol testing.

- 1. It is understood that the use, possession, transfer or sale of illegal drugs, narcotics, or other unlawful substances, as well as being under the influence of alcohol and the possession or consuming alcohol is absolutely prohibited while employees are on the Employer's job premises or while working on any jobsite in connection with work performed under the Community Workforce Agreement ("Agreement").
- 2. No Employer may implement a drug testing program which does not conform in all respects to the provisions of this Policy.
- 3. No Employer may implement drug testing at any jobsite unless written notice is given to the Union setting forth the location of the jobsite, a description of the project under construction, and the name and telephone number of the Project Supervisor. Said notice shall be addressed to the office of each Union signing the Agreement. Said notice shall be delivered in person or by registered mail before the implementation of drug testing. Failure to give such notice shall make any drug testing engaged in by the Employer a violation of the Agreement, and the Employer may not implement any form of drug testing at such jobsite for the following six months.
- 4. An employer who elects to implement drug testing pursuant to this Agreement shall require all employees on the Project to be tested. With respect to individuals who become employed on the Project subsequent to the proper implementation of this drug testing program, such test shall be administered upon the commencement of employment on the project, whether by referral from a Union Dispatch Office, transfer from another project, or another method. Individuals who were employed on the project prior to the proper implementation of this drug testing program may only be subjected to testing for the reasons set forth in Paragraph 5(f) (1) through 5(f) (3) of this Policy. Refusal to undergo such testing shall be considered sufficient grounds to deny employment on the project.
 - 5. The following procedure shall apply to all drug testing:
- a. The Employer may request urine samples only. The applicant or employee shall not be observed when the urine specimen is given. An applicant or employee, at his or her sole option, shall, upon request, receive a blood test in lieu of a urine test. No employee of the Employer shall draw blood from a bargaining unit employee, touch or handle urine specimens, or in any way become involved in the chain of custody

of urine or blood specimens. A Union Business Representative, subject to the approval of the individual applicant or employee, shall be permitted to accompany the applicant or employee to the collection facility to observe the collection, bottling, and sealing of the specimen.

- b. The testing shall be done by a laboratory approved by the National Institute on Drug Abuse (NIDA), which is chosen by the Employer and the Union.
- c. An initial test shall be performed using the Enzyme Multiplied Immunoassay Technique (EMZT). In the event a question or positive result arises from the initial test, a confirmation test must be utilized before action can be taken against the applicant or employee. The confirmation test will be by Gas Chromatography Mass Spectrometry (GC/MS). Cutoff levels for both the initial test and confirmation test will be those established by the National Institute on Drug Abuse. Confirmed positive samples will be retained by the testing laboratory in secured long-term frozen storage for a minimum of one year. Handling and transportation of each sample must be documented through strict chain of custody procedures.
- d. In the event of a confirmed positive test result the applicant or employee may request, within forty-eight (48) hours, a sample of his/her specimen from the testing laboratory for purposes of a second test to be performed at a second laboratory, designated by the Union and approved by NDA. The retest must be performed within ten (10) days of the request. Chain of custody for this sample shall be maintained by the Employer between the original testing laboratory and the Union's designated laboratory. Retesting shall be performed at the applicant's or employee's expense. In the event of conflicting test results the Employer may require a third test.
- e. If, as a result of the above testing procedure, it is determined that an applicant or employee has tested positive, this shall be considered sufficient grounds to deny the applicant or employee his/her employment on the Project.
- f. Applicants or employees who do not test positive shall be paid for all time lost while undergoing drug testing. Payment shall be at the applicable wage and benefit rates set forth in the applicable Union's Master Labor Agreement. Applicants who have been dispatched from the Union and who are not put to work pending the results of a test will be paid waiting time until such time as they are put to work. It is understood that an applicant must pass the test as a condition of employment. Applicants who are put to work pending the results of a test will be considered probationary employees.
- 6. The employers will be allowed to conduct periodic job site drug testing on the Project under the following conditions:
- a. The entire jobsite must be tested, including any employee or subcontractor's employee who worked on that project three (3) working days before or after the date of the test;

- b. Prior to start of periodic testing, a business representative will be allowed to conduct an educational period on company time to explain periodic jobsite testing program to affected employees;
- c. Testing shall be conducted by a N.I.D.A. certified laboratory, pursuant to the provisions set forth in Paragraph 5 hereinabove.
 - d. Only two periodic tests may be performed in a twelve month period.
- 7. It is understood that the unsafe use of prescribed medication, or where the use of prescribed medication impairs the employee's ability to perform work, is a basis for the Employer to remove the employee from the jobsite.
- 8. Any grievance or dispute which may arise out of the application of this Agreement shall be subject to the grievance and arbitration procedures set forth in the Agreement.
- 9. The establishment or operation of this Policy shall not curtail any right of any employee found in any law, rule or regulation. Should any part of this Agreement be found unlawful by a court of competent jurisdiction or a public agency having jurisdiction over the parties, the remaining portions of the Agreement shall be unaffected and the parties shall enter negotiations to replace the affected provision.
- 10. Present employees, if tested positive, shall have the prerogative for rehabilitation program at the employee's expense. When such program has been successfully completed the Employer shall not discriminate in any way against the employee. If work for which the employee is qualified exists he/she shall be reinstated.
- 11. The Employer agrees that results of urine and blood tests performed hereunder will be considered medical records held confidential to the extent permitted or required by law. Such records shall not be released to any persons or entities other than designated Employer representatives and the applicable Union. Such release to the applicable Union shall only be allowed upon the signing of a written release and the information contained therein shall not be used to discourage the employment of the individual applicant or employee on any subsequent occasion.
- 12. The Employer shall indemnify and hold the Union harmless against any and all claims, demands, suits, or liabilities that may arise out of the application of this Agreement and/or any program permitted hereunder.
- 13. Employees who seek voluntary assistance for substance abuse may not be disciplined for seeking such assistance. Requests from employees for such assistance shall remain confidential and shall not be revealed to other employees or management personnel without the employee's consent. Employees enrolled in substance abuse programs shall be subject to all Employer rules, regulations and job performance standards with the

understanding that an employee enrolled in such a program is receiving treatment for an illness.

14. This Attachment E shall constitute the only Agreement in effect between the parties concerning drug and alcohol abuse, prevention and testing. Any modifications thereto must be accomplished pursuant to collective bargaining negotiations between the parties.

DRUG ABUSE PREVENTION AND DETECTION ATTACHMENT E CUTOFF LEVELS

SCREENING	SCREENING	CONFIRMATION	CONFIRMATION	
DRUG	METHOD	LEVEL **	METHOD	LEVEL
Alcohol	EMIT	.02%	CG/MS	.02%
Amphetamines	EMIT	1000 ng/m*	CG/MS	500 ng/ml*
Barbiturates	EMIT	300 ng/ml	CG/MS	200 ng/ml
Benzodiazepines	EMIT	300 ng/ml	CG/MS	300 ng/ml
Cocaine	EMIT	300 ng/ml*	CG/MS	150 ng/ml*
Methadone	EMIT	300 ng/ml	CG/MS	100 ng/ml
Methaqualone	EMIT	300 ng/ml	CG/MS	300 ng/ml
Opiates	EMIT	300 ng/ml*	CG/MS	300 ng/ml*
PCP (Phencyclidine)	EMIT	25 ng/ml*	CG/MS	25 ng/ml*
THC (Marijuana)	EMIT	100 ng/ml*	CG/MS	15 ng/ml*
Propoxyphene	EMIT	300 ng/ml	CG/MS	100 ng/ml

^{*} NTDA specified threshold

EMIT - Enzyme Immunoassay
CC/MS - Gas Chromatography/Mass Spectrometry

SIDE LETTER OF AGREEMENT TESTING POLICY FOR DRUG ABUSE

It is hereby agreed between the parties hereto that an Employer who has otherwise properly implemented drug testing, as set forth in the Testing Policy for Drug Abuse, shall have the

^{**} A sample reported positive contains the Indicated drug at or above the cutoff level for that drug. A negative sample either contains no drug or contains a drug below the cutoff level.

right to offer an applicant or employee a "quick" drug screening test. This "quick" screen test shall consist either of the "ICUP" urine screen or similar test or an oral screen test. The applicant or employee shall have the absolute right to select either of the two "quick" screen tests, or to reject both and request a full drug test.

An applicant or employee who selects one of the quick screen tests, and who passes the test, shall be put to work immediately. An applicant or employee who fails the "quick" screen test, or who rejects the quick screen tests, shall be tested pursuant to the procedures set forth in the Testing Policy for Drug Abuse. The sample used for the "quick" screen test shall be discarded immediately upon conclusion of the test. An applicant or employee shall not be deprived of any rights granted to them by the Testing Policy for Drug Abuse as a result of any occurrence related to the "quick" screen test.

APPENDIX A

The following Projects are included in this Community Workforce Agreement:

- 1. Modernize Footprint Buildings at Chaparral ES Project
- 2. Create Science Labs at Middle Schools Project
- 3. Create Maker Space at Elementary Schools Project
- 4. Play Field Upgrade Project
- 5. Create New Shade Structures Project
- 6. Develop Future Learning Spaces Project
- 7. Modernize Spaces for Middle School Pathways Project
- 8. Complete Kitchen Upgrade Project
- 9. Removal of Unnecessary Portables and Make Field Space Project
- 10. Update the Electrical and Data Lines Project
- 11. Bundled Painting Projects associated with the Safety and Community Pride Projects
- 12. Professional Development Center Project